i
Tinmark

Linmark Group Limited
MEEBAFR AT

Stock Code A% 1X5%: 915

annual report 2012 &3k







Contents B &

2 | Financial Highlights BA 768 2
Statement of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FfEFRITHABH FREE
Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ [& 59 5@ S 24T
16 Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary
 EF BREEERATWEEHR
19 Corporate Governance Report ‘A B) B A MRS
43 | Reports and Financial Statements &5 2 & B IS &

43 Report of the Directors EE 2 HEE

59 | Independent Auditors’ Report ¥ 37 1% kAl R 45 &

61 Consolidated Income Statement #R & a2k

62 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 434 & E W & 2%
63 = Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 434 B &k R &

64 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity AR S HE = E &K

65 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4R & IR &M E R

67 | Statement of Financial Position BA Tk 5%

68 Notes to the Financial Statements B4 75 3R 2% i 5t

148 Five-Year Financial Summary F1 F B 758 2
150 | Corporate Information 2 F1&#}
152 Shareholder Information A& SR & ¥}



2

Financial Highlights

MM E

2012 2011
—E-=fF —E——F %
US$'million US$'million Increase
BEXER BEET #
Operating Results G
Revenue & 100.6 95.8 5.0
EBITDA B ESH - BE - FER
AR A 3.4 1.2 183.3
Operating profit before investment R EW S NEHER
gains and restructuring costs Bij Z 4& &5 | 2.9 2.3 26.1
Profit for the year FEHF 2.8 0.6 366.7
Financial Position IR
Total assets BEBE 56.1 52.3 7.3
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRTTHE 19.8 17.5 13.1
Net assets BEFE 38.9 36.7 6.0
Financial Ratio B 5 b 2=
Current ratio (Times) TmEhE =R () 1.8 1.8 -
Gearing ratio (%) ERBELE (%) - - N/A T3 A
Dividends 2B
Interim dividend per share (HK cent) TP EHRE (BI) 0.88 0.31 183.9
Final dividend per share (HK cent) FREREARE B (GBL) 0.50 - N/A i@ A
Full year dividend per share (HK cents) &HE2FEME (GBIL) 1.38 0.31 345.2

Breakdown of Revenue by Nature
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Breakdown of Shipment Value by Market
BhiB8s 2N EERE
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Statement of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
T EFRITHAHRESE

Continuous efforts will be placed on
developing higher margin businesses,
as well as cultivating new business
opportunities as they arise.

BRTEBNHRENRESHES -
W AR AR ISR -
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On behalf of the board of directors (“Board"), | am pleased to
present the annual results of Linmark Group Limited (“Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “Linmark") for the
year ended 30 April 2012.

Over the past year, the global economic climate remained
turbulent, owing in part to the sovereign debt crisis in Europe
and poor employment outlook in the United States. The resultant
erosion in consumer confidence invariably led to a decline in
shipment value for the Group. Nevertheless, we were still able to
realise modest gains in both revenue and gross profit as a result of
increased focus on higher margin businesses.

AANERREZE ((ESB8]) MARENEEEFRAF
([HR2R ] EZREMBARGHE [AEE] X [HE)) #HE
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B ) 15 2 48 (B A 1 A AT SR 0 T K o BB UL - AT nee
EIRNEMNERENER - DA< KEREMBRSBMTE o

A A S T .
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Statement of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
TRERTHERREE

Qur ability to sustain growth with many of our key
customers despite adversity can largely be attributed to
our strong ties with them whom, faced with similarly
challenging conditions, elected not only to continue
conducting business with Linmark, but in certain
instances, increased orders in acknowledgement of
our expertise and aptitude for delivering high quality
services. This capacity to provide holistic solutions is
underscored by our product development capability and
it is a competitive advantage that has allowed us to
strengthen ties with existing customers - and enhances
their reliance on us - while attracting new customers
to the Group.

Aside from leveraging relations with customers old
and new, our capacity to explore and exploit untapped
markets and introduce products that are in step with
current trends further contributed to the positive
financial performance.

Moving forward, the Group expects the lacklustre
business environment will persist as economic
recovery in Europe looks set to be a protracted affair.
Nevertheless, we remain cautiously optimistic about
Linmark's prospects in view of our healthy ties with
customers and strong fundamentals in place. We
will continue to develop and introduce more quality
products and value-added services to our customers,
while concurrently examine locations where cost-

effective sourcing can be derived. What is more,
continuous efforts will be placed on developing higher
margin businesses, as well as cultivating new business
opportunities as they arise.

At this time, | would like to express my appreciation to
fellow members of the Board for their commitment and
guidance, as well as the management team and every
member of the Linmark workforce for their diligence
and dedication to the long-term wellbeing of the
Group. | wish to also convey my gratitude to all of our
shareholders for their unwavering trust.

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13 July 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B wm Mo AT

Business Review

Overview

During the year ended 30 April 2012, the Group continued to
be confronted with highly challenging business conditions,
due largely to economic uncertainties in Europe and the
United States. This consequently led to a contraction in
shipment value to approximately US$258.3 million (equivalent
to HK$2,014.7 million), a decline of approximately 7.8%
compared to approximately US$280.2 million (equivalent to
HK$2,185.6 million) last year. Nevertheless, the Group was
able to report increases in both revenue and gross profit
for the year as a result of increased focus on higher margin
businesses. Revenue rose by approximately 5.0% year on year
from approximately US$95.8 million (equivalent to HK$747.2
million) to approximately US$100.6 million (equivalent to
HK$784.7 million), while gross profit climbed by roughly 2.2%
from approximately US$23.0 million (equivalent to HK$179.4
million) last year to approximately US$23.5 million (equivalent
to HK$183.3 million) this year.

On cost side, Linmark also faced escalating labour costs
along with high inflation in its key sourcing markets over the
year. Nevertheless, the Group successfully contained general
and administrative expenses to a similar level with last year,
amounting to approximately US$22.0 million (equivalent to
HK$171.6 million). In addition, the restructuring activities
of the Group carried out last year had been completed
and there were no similar activities in the year under
review. Restructuring cost incurred last year amounted to
approximately US$1.6 million (equivalent to HK$12.5 million).

As a result, the Group achieved a profit after tax of
approximately US$2.8 million (equivalent to HK$21.8 million),
an increase of approximately 366.7% over approximately
US$0.6 million (equivalent to HK$4.7 million) recorded last
year.

T AYY ET TN T INrrreT

Segmental Analysis

Operating segmentation

The Group is organised into business units based on its products
and services. It maintains two reportable operating segments;
specifically, i) sales of merchandise including garments, fashion
accessories, labels, hardgoods and consumer electronic products;
and ii) provision of services including procurement and value-
added services relating to the procurement agency business.

Shipment value
For the year ended 30 April

2012 20M

US$' million US$' million

Provision of services 172.1 199.6
Sales of merchandise 86.2 80.6
Total 258.3 280.2

During the year under review, shipment value from the
provision of services declined by approximately 13.8% to
approximately US$172.1 million (equivalent to HK$1,342.4
million), accounting for roughly 66.6% of the Group's total
shipment value. The decline was largely due to a decrease in
inspection business, which brought relatively low margin to the
Group.

Shipment value from sales of merchandise increased by
approximately 6.9% to approximately US$86.2 million
(equivalent to HK$672.4 million), contributing to around 33.4%
of the Group's total shipment value. The increase in shipments
was mainly attributable to organic growth and business from
new customers.




¥KEE
BE
HE-_Z——FHNA=ZTHLEE TEHAREBELE
T AEEEBCELEEMRSEkE - H#meE
BTE = REWHE - B % F #280,200,000%K 7T (FHF R
2,185,600,0007% JT) T P& #97.8%Z %J258,300,0003 JT (*E
£ 7A2,014,7000008 70) c AT - AR ANEE pNE =
REFMEESNER K REMBEEE M- Hﬁzﬁn
M #995,800,0003 JT (#8 55 $2747,200,00078 JT) ¥ = 4
100,600,0003 J© (48 £ 72784,700,000/8 7T ) * & F F F+ 4
5.00% - 1M 3 F F 2 55 4923,000,0003F 7T (#82554179,400,000
7B JT) 18 2 4 4 #923,500,0005 7T (48 5 72183,300,00078
Jo)  EFH92.200 ©
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@R EFRAEKFE - 42200000035 T (HHE R
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1,600,0003 7T (F8%712,500,00078 7T ) °
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Geographical segmentation

Shipment value
For the year ended 30 April

2012 20M

US$' million US$" million

North America 120.2 133.7
Europe 70.3 71.1
Others 67.8 75.4
Total 258.3 280.2

During the year under review, shipments to North America
decreased by approximately 10.1% to approximately US$120.2
million (equivalent to HK$937.6 million). Nevertheless, North
America remained Linmark's largest market, contributing
approximately 46.5% of the Group's total shipment value.

Shipments to Europe decreased slightly to approximately
US$70.3 million (equivalent to HK$548.3 million). Europe
thus accounted for approximately 27.2% of the Group's total
shipment value.

Shipments grouped under "Others", comprising mainly
shipments to the southern hemisphere, amounted to
approximately US$67.8 million (equivalent to HK$528.8
million), representing approximately 26.3% of the Group's total
shipment value.

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012

Update on Indian Tax Case

In November 2010, the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal ("ITAT") in
India issued an order ("ITAT Order") regarding the tax appeals
lodged by the Group. The ITAT Order held that only 50% of the
commission income was attributed to the India operations of
Linmark International (Hong Kong) Limited (“Linmark HK"),
a subsidiary of the Company. Consequently, Linmark HK was
not liable to pay tax and related interest in respect of its India
operations for the years 1999/2000 to 2005/2006.

In February and May 2011, Linmark HK received an income tax
refund from the tax authority of India totalling approximately
INR19,031,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,800,000 or
US$361,000).

In August 2011, the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)
("CITA") in India issued an order ("CITA Order") and held that
the penalty levied on Linmark HK in March 2010 had been
rescinded; hence, Linmark HK was not liable to pay the penalty
levied.

However, according to the advice of the Group's tax adviser,
the ITAT Order and CITA Order may be subject to further appeal
by the tax authority in India against the issues decided in
favour of Linmark HK. In view of this uncertainty, the Group
will not recognise the tax credit in the profit and loss accounts
until the refund of tax previously paid is certain.
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Hong Kong Tax Case

As of the date of the annual report, the Group received
protective assessments amounting to approximately
HK$84,000,000 (equivalent to US$10,769,000) from the Inland
Revenue Department in Hong Kong (“IRD") in respect of queries
on the modus operandi of the Group and the chargeability
of the profits for the years of assessment from 2003/2004 to
2005/20086.

In response to enquiries from IRD, an independent tax
adviser has been engaged to handle this case and the
relevant information has been furnished to IRD for review. In
addition, Tax Reserve Certificates amounting to HK$3,250,000
(equivalent to US$417,000) have been purchased by two
subsidiaries of the Company in pursuit of the holdover of tax
demanded under the protective assessments for these years.

Taking into account the advice given by the independent
tax adviser, the Group maintains the view that sufficient tax
provision has been made in the financial statements.

Financial Review

The Group's financial position remains healthy with a fixed
bank deposit of approximately US$2.0 million (equivalent
to HK$15.6 million), plus cash and cash equivalents of
approximately US$17.8 million (equivalent to HK$138.8
million) as at 30 April 2012. In addition, the Group has total
banking facilities of approximately US$32.9 million (equivalent
to HK$256.6 million) including borrowing facilities of
approximately US$0.4 million (equivalent to HK$3.1 million) as
at 30 April 2012.

The Group has a current ratio of 1.8 and a gearing ratio of
zero, based on no interest-bearing borrowings and total equity
of approximately US$38.9 million (equivalent to HK$303.4
million) as at 30 April 2012. There have not been any material
changes in the Group's borrowings since 30 April 2012.

Trade receivables increased from approximately US$5.1
million (equivalent to HK$39.8 million) as at 30 April 2011
to approximately US$5.4 million (equivalent to HK$42.1
million) as at 30 April 2012. Gross trade receivables aged over
90 days, which amounted to approximately US$0.8 million
(equivalent to HK$6.2 million), are being carefully monitored
by the management. Approximately US$0.7 million (equivalent
to HK$5.5 million) of these balances were covered by the
impairment.

The Group's net asset value as at 30 April 2012 was

approximately US$38.9 million (equivalent to HK$303.4
million).

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 30 April
2012 and there has been no material change since then.

The majority of the Group's transactions during the year under
review were denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
To minimise exchange risks, sales and purchases are generally
transacted in the same currency.

Remuneration Policy and Staff Development
Scheme

As at 30 April 2012, the Group had 416 staff members.
Total staff costs for the year under review amounted to
approximately US$14.4 million (equivalent to HK$112.3 million)
(2011: US$15.7 million (equivalent to HK$122.5 million)).
The Group offers competitive remuneration schemes to its
employees based on industry practices, along with individual
and the Group's performance. In addition, share options and
discretionary bonuses are also granted to eligible staff based
on both the Group's as well as individual performance.

Creditors’ Voluntary Liquidation of Linmark
Electronics Limited (“LEL")

On 28 July 2009, LEL, a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom ("UK") and a 60% subsidiary of the Company,
filed a notice of appointment of administrators in the UK
("“Administration”), pursuant to which joint administrators
("Administrators”) of LEL were appointed (“Appointment”)
according to paragraph 22 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency
Act 1986 of the UK. Upon the Appointment, the legal control
of business of LEL was transferred from the directors of LEL to
the Administrators. Since then, the Company has lost control
over the financial and operating policies of LEL and therefore,
the financial results of LEL have ceased to be consolidated with
those of the Group upon the Appointment.

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 27
January 2010, according to the Administrators, on 25 January
2010 (UK time), LEL moved from Administration to creditors'
voluntary liquidation ("Liquidation”) and the Administrators
were appointed the liquidators ("Liquidators") pursuant to
paragraph 83 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 of
the UK and as approved by the creditors of LEL. It was also
stated in the said announcement that the Liquidators would
adjudicate creditors' claims following which they anticipated
paying a dividend to the creditors of LEL; and further that
following such process, the Liquidators would take steps to
dissolve LEL.
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In June 2012, the Group received a first and final dividend
amounting to approximately GBP44,000 (equivalent to
US$69,000) as one of the creditors of LEL, and such amount
will be recorded in the financial statements of the Group
for the year ending 30 April 2013. It is expected that the
Liquidators would be undertaking the required statutory and
administrative steps to close the Liquidation and to dissolve
LEL in about six months.

As disclosed in the interim report of the Company for the
six months ended 31 October 2009, the unaudited total net
liabilities of LEL included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group amounted to approximately
US$5.3 million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million). Upon the
commencement of the Liquidation, a non-cash profit of
approximately US$5.3 million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million)
was recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 30 April 2010 of the Group as a gain on liquidation
of a subsidiary. Save for the gain on liquidation of a subsidiary
and dividend income as mentioned above, the Board does not
expect the Liquidation to have any other material impact on
the Group.

Prospects

In the light of lingering concerns over the European sovereign
debt crisis, the state of the global economy remains uncertain.
Economy in Eurozone continues to be weak while economic
recovery in the United States is anticipated to be slower
than previously expected. As both regions are saddled with
high unemployment, the business environment will remain
highly difficult. Combined with further waning of consumer
confidence, retailers particularly in Europe are expected to be
more conservative towards replenishing inventory.

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012

Faced with such uncertain outlook, the management will
focus more efforts on bolstering relations with existing
customers and partners; providing more value-added services,
including product and fabric development; promoting cross-
selling activities; and identifying more effective sourcing
opportunities. At the same time, the Group will direct greater
resources towards promoting its higher margin businesses, as
well as explore new markets to achieve business growth.

Promoting growth will invariably call for effective cost controls
as well. Despite the expected further escalation of labour cost
in the markets the Group operates in, the management will aim
at containing overall operating expenses, which will include
exploring alternative markets for sourcing.

In addition to seeking organic growth, the management will
look out for merger and acquisition opportunities that will
enhance the Group's product portfolio and markets or open
the way to new business horizons - the main emphasis being
on enhancing profit contributions to the Group and maximise
shareholders' value.

Despite the apparently turbulent business conditions that are
anticipated to persist, the management remains cautiously
optimistic about Linmark's financial performance in the coming
year.
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Biographical Details of Directors,
Senior Management and Company Secretary

55 oHEEENARWEER

Executive directors and senior management

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 58, is an executive director
and the chairman of the Company and became the
chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 8 October 2010. He is mainly responsible for the
Group's corporate and strategy planning and business
development. Mr. Wang joined the Group in 1998 as
chairman. He is a co-founder, an executive director
and chairman of Roly International Holdings Ltd. ("Roly

WANG Lu Yen
TR

International”), an intermediate holding company
of the Company which was listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited from 1996 to 2007.

Mr. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the trading and distribution business.
Mr. Wang is a vice-chairman of China Association for Middle and Small Commercial
Enterprises, a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a member of
Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, a member of The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Central Policy Unit Pan-Pearl River
Delta Panel, a member of Hong Kong Association for the Promotion of Peaceful
Reunification of China, a honorary court member of The Hong Kong Baptist
University, a member of Hong Kong/Taiwan Business Cooperation Committee, the
honorary chairman of Taiwan Business Association (Hong Kong) Limited, a director
of the Soochow Management Academic Foundation of Soochow University and
a director of the Taiwan Design Center. Mr. Wang was awarded the Directors of
The Year Awards 2005 hosted by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Soochow University, Taiwan and
an EMBA degree from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University, the
People's Republic of China ("PRC").

h;&

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis
H5EF

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, aged 42, was appointed
as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 September 2010. Mr. Wong has been the
chief financial officer of the Group since 2006 and
oversees the finance, legal, shipping, IT and HR
functions of the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Wong was

the head of corporate development department of Roly

International, an intermediate holding company of the
Company, primarily responsible for Roly International
and the Group's corporate development, mergers
and acquisitions and investor relations activities.
Before joining Roly International in 2000, Mr. Wong
had worked at several major international financial institutions where he gained
extensive experience in finance, investments and banking. Mr. Wong holds a Master
of Business Administration degree in finance from Boston University in the United
States, and a Bachelor of Science degree from The University of British Columbia in
Canada.
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Non-executive director

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 54, is a non-executive
director of the Company. Mr. Wong has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since it was listed in 2002 and was redesignated as an

executive director of the Company in 2005 and then

5 further redesignated as a non-executive director of
“ - the Company in 2007. Mr. Wong has been the chief
WONG Wai‘l\/lling financial officer and senior vice president of Lenovo
ZiE Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange"), since July 2007. He is also an independent non-executive director
of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was a non-executive director of Kingsoft Corporation
Limited from 2007 to 2010 and an independent non-executive director of I.T Limited
from 2004 to 2011, both of which are also listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong was an executive director and chief executive officer of Roly
International from 2005 to 2007. He was previously an investment banker with over
16 years of experience in investment banking business in Greater China. Mr. Wong
is a chartered accountant of the UK and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). He holds a Bachelor's degree
of Science (with Honours) in Management Sciences from The Victoria University of
Manchester, the UK.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 51, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since 2002. Mr. Wang is also a board and audit
committee member of NASDAQ listed Home Inns

& Hotels Management Inc., one of China's leading
hotel chains. Previously, Mr. Wang was a member of

a the board and chief executive officer of GigaMedia
WANG Arthur Minhshiang Limited, a NASDAQ listed online entertainment and
Ta game provider. Mr. Wang was also previously a co-

founder and executive director of KGI Asia Limited,

the investment banking arm of the Koos Group of
Taiwan. Mr. Wang has also served on the board of directors of several finance and
technology companies in the region and was previously a member of the board and
audit committee chair of Softbank Investment International (Strategic) Limited (now
known as China Renji Medical Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang received his Juris Doctorate degree
from Yale Law School and practised corporate and securities law in Hong Kong and
New York. He also holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California
at Los Angeles in the US.
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Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary

Ex  RATEEMRARMEERHR

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, aged 64, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since 2005. Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and
the HKICPA. Mr. Tse is a past president and the past
chairman and a current member of the Audit Committee
of the HKICPA. He joined KPMG in 1976, became a
partner in 1984 and retired in March 2003. Mr. Tse was
a non-executive chairman of KPMG's operations in the
PRC and a member of the KPMG China advisory board
from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-executive director
of Wing Hang Bank, Limited, CNOOC Limited, China Telecom Corporation Limited,
Sinofert Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings Limited, all listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse was an independent non-executive director of China

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
HEDT

Construction Bank Corporation, which shares are also listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from 2004 to 2010. Mr. Tse is a member of the International
Advisory Council of the People's Municipal Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse holds a
Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, aged 65, has
been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 2008. He became the chief executive
officer of Freemans Grattan Holdings of Otto Group in
2008. From 1994 to 2007, he was managing director of
Otto International Asia and was responsible for all of
its sourcing offices and trading companies in the Asia

Pacific region. Prior to that, he worked his way through

Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS

different aspects of the garment industry for 22 years
in South Africa. Having been managing director for the
manufacturing subsidiary of a major retailer in South Africa and a board member of
such retailer for 4 years, he joined a large American apparel manufacturer in Hong
Kong in 1992. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Garment Engineering received from a
college in Netherlands.

Company secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 44, is the company secretary of the Company
and Roly International. Ms. Cheung joined a subsidiary of Roly International in 1997
as an assistant company secretary. She has over 20 years of company secretarial
experience gained in listed companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Accountancy and is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, the UK.
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Corporate Governance Report

On 1 April 2012, the Code on Corporate Governance Practices ("Former
CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities ("Listing Rules") on the Stock Exchange was amended and
renamed as the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (“New CG Code"). The Company has adopted the Code Provisions
("Code Provisions") as stated in the New CG Code as the Corporate
Governance Code ("Code") of the Company in substitution for and to
the exclusion of the Former CG Code with effect from 1 April 2012. The
Board is committed to complying with the Code to the extent that the
directors of the Company ("Directors”) consider it is applicable to the
Company and practical.

The corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise an effective
Board, sound internal controls, appropriate independence policy, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

During the relevant periods of the year under review, the Company fully
complied with the Code Provisions in the Former CG Code and New CG
Code, save for the following:

1. For the period from 1 May 2011 to 31 March 2012

Deviation from/modifications made to the Former CG Code:

- deviation from Code Provision A.2.1

- modifications made to Code Provision B.1.3 (from 1 May 2011 to
15 September 2011)

2. For the period from 1 April 2012 to 30 April 2012

Deviation from the New CG Code:
- deviation from Code Provision A.2.1
- deviation from Code Provision A.4.3

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
and the explanations on the deviations from the Code Provisions are
summarised as follows:

The Board

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company's business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for the leadership and control
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. All Directors
should make decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or through
Board committees. To ensure the Board is in a position to exercise
its powers in an informed manner, management provides monthly
management accounts and updates to the Directors who also have full
and timely access to all relevant information and may take independent
professional advice if necessary.

NRIERRE

AT -——FWHA—R BRXHAES ETHRE
(TEWHRA ) M+ RIS EEERER TR
((AEEERTR ) RETRSHREEERT
AR ERERRE ([HEXERTA]) - ARF
BRI R EA ST RIS S AR (T R
X)) tERARRM AR ERTR ([SFRI]) LB
KETBERAEEERTR BT — %M
A—REEM - BEE2RAGE  EARTES ([E
B ABERRARAMIERITTORRET @ &
RBRETAITE -

AEBERRERRAEBEEUNEEE  RIFW
NEPEIEMEENE LK X RANRREEK
REH-EARZAELHNENESS -

RARBEFEREHEA - ARFE 2 EETH]
EEERTARMEEEATRIN TR - 1
THERID -

. R-B-—#REA-AE-F--£=§
=+—A1LEE
BIBRES TRISAE (5T
- R B PRI BA L
-5 B X EB IR ST (=
——#nB-AZ-F——FAATE
A)

2. RIE——-—FHA—HBE-_ZLT——-F0HA
—t+HI-EE
FIPEE R TR IERE -
- (B SF RIS EBA 2.1
- R BT RIME S EBA 431K

RRABNEBRARERRREERIARBRETR
X ImEE ISR T -

EEg

B

EXSRARREREARANERL  HPBEaE
RENEERAEBNEE  YHRAAERERE
BARESEHHNEMLE  HSHAKEETN - 2
BEZRURNRANKRENSRES - TEME
HIRER -

EECERNEBREFTRECRITRG - RIER
EXeRENBMBRTTEERE  EEEEA
FAESREHEERE REHER MBS NER
HHAAEELERMARER  AARNEFRE
B EXER -

MELEMERAR —T——FFR

19



20

Corporate Governance Report
NRIEBWRE

Pursuant to the terms of reference and modus operandi of the Board
adopted with effect from 1 April 2012, the powers and authorities
reserved to the full Board include the following but are not limited to:

1. matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder and/or a Director;

2. making decisions on whether or not to declare, recommend or pay
dividend;
3. approving (i) the publication of preliminary announcement of the

profits or losses in respect of annual results or interim results and
(ii) the related financial statements and/or accounts;

4. approving any proposed change in the capital structure, including
any redemption of its securities listed on the Stock Exchange;

5. approving any decision to change the general nature of the
business of the Company;

6. approving any discloseable transaction, major transaction, very
substantial acquisition and disposal or connected transaction
within the meaning of Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules
on the Stock Exchange;

7. matters specifically set out in the Listing Rules which require
approval at a full Board meeting; and

8. any regulations or resolutions or restrictions that may be imposed
upon the committees by the Board from time to time.

The authorities reserved to the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee are more particularly discussed
below.

The Board has the full support of the chief executive officer and
senior management to discharge its responsibilities. Save for the
power reserved by the Board or other Board committees, the Executive
Committee currently comprising the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer is responsible for the day-to-day management and
operation functions of the Group.
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Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to the terms of reference and modus operandi of the Board,
the Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out below or it may delegate the responsibility to a committee
or committees:

1. to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

5. to review the Group's compliance with the corporate governance
code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company; and

6. to review and monitor the Group's process of disclosure, including
assessing and verifying the accuracy and materiality of price-
sensitive information and determine the form and content of any
required disclosure.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the Group's policies
and practices on corporate governance and adopted the New CG
Code. The Board also reviewed the current practices and procedures
of discharging the continuous disclosure obligations under the Listing
Rules and adopted the internal guidelines on issuing profit alert or profit
warning statement.

Directors' and officers' liabilities insurance

Appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers' liabilities
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group has been arranged by the Company.

Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills
and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and
independence in decision making.
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The Board currently comprises six Directors in total, with two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors during the year under review and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
WANG Lu Yen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director
WONG Wai Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

The Company currently has four Board committees. The table below
provides membership information of these committees on which each
Board member serves.

EECEAAEAANNESAER  BEMMATT
TFE UPITESER=ZUBIIFENTES -
UTARABBFEALEERN RSB IENE
=

BITES
T (EFERITHAEER)
BEF (ML)

FHUITES
=EH

BYFHTES

FHFF

HEDT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

ARRRERENBEEERES - TRIEHESE
EZERBHEELEL BETRAEENRAL -

Board Committee

ExEge Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Director Committee Committee Committee Committee
2= HITZEE BERZEE SMZzEE REZEE
WANG Lu Yen FE M ¢
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BEF M
WONG Wai Ming EHZH
WANG Arthur Minshiang T M
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius WENT M
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS M
Notes: ffsE -
C Chairman of the relevant Board committees C EHEEZEENER
M Member of the relevant Board committees M EHESEZEEMKE

None of the members of the Board has any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) with
each other.
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Independent non-executive Directors

During the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such
confirmation, the Company still considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on
Board committees, all independent non-executive Directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Independent non-executive Director who has served for
more than nine years

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang has served as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years. The further appointment of Mr. Wang
without the approval by way of passing a separate resolution of the
shareholders is regarded as a deviation from Code Provision A.4.3 of the
New CG Code effective on 1 April 2012.

To comply with this new Code Provision A.4.3, Mr. WANG Arthur
Minshiang will retire voluntarily at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

The Board is of the opinion that Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang remains
independent notwithstanding the length of his service and believes that
his valuable knowledge and experience in the Group's business and his
general business acumen continue to generate significant contribution
to the Board, the Company and the shareholders as a whole. The
Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the Company on
or about 27 July 2012 will contain the biographical information of Mr.
WANG Arthur Minshiang and the detailed reasons behind the Board's
recommendation of the continuing appointment of Mr. WANG Arthur
Minshiang as an independent non-executive Director.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company's needs and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment agency
may be engaged to assist in the recruitment and selection process when
necessary.

At a meeting of the Board held on 28 March 2012, the Board approved
the establishment of the Nomination Committee which comprises
three members, namely Mr. WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang and Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
with effect from 1 April 2012.

The Company's bye-laws (“Bye-laws") provide that all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall be
subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

The Bye-laws also allow for removal of a Director by an ordinary
resolution.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the

Company on or about 27 July 2012 will contain detailed information of
the Directors standing for re-election.
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Directors' service agreements and letters of appointment
Each of Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, being an
executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the
Company with an initial term of three years from May 2002 and
September 2010 respectively, and has continued or will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party by not less than six months'
notice in writing.

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, a non-executive Director, has been appointed for
a term of two years under a letter of appointment from 5 July 2007 and
has continued thereafter until terminated by either party by serving at
least one month's notice in writing.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
WANG Arthur Minshiang, Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius and Mr. Jakob
Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, has first been appointed for a term of two
years under a letter of appointment. Such term has been renewed for a
further two years upon expiry. The appointments may be terminated by
the independent non-executive Directors by serving not less than one
month's notice in writing.

Changes to the emoluments of the Directors

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee having
considered the market comparable, roles and responsibilities,
performance and contributions of the Directors approved certain changes
to the emoluments of the executive Directors and recommended the
changes to the emoluments of the non-executive Directors which were
subsequently approved by the Board. None of the Directors participated
in the discussions relating to his own remuneration matters.

The changes made to the emoluments of the Directors are summarised
below:

1. WANG Lu Yen (executive Director, chairman, chief executive
officer, chairman of Executive Committee and Nomination
Committee, and member of Remuneration Committee)

- With effect from 1 May 2011, the service agreement has
been amended such that a residential apartment which
doubled the size of the apartment before the amendment
is provided to Mr. WANG Lu Yen. Details of the relevant
tenancy agreement with the annual rental of HK$2,400,000
(or US$308,483) are disclosed in the section “"Connected
Transactions" of the Report of the Directors of this annual
report.

- With effect from 1 May 2012, the base salary under the
service agreement has been adjusted from US$204,195 to
US$569,909 per annum. At the same time, the provident
fund has also been adjusted from US$10,210 to US$28,495
per annum.

- The Remuneration Committee has approved a discretionary
bonus payment of US$200,000 for the year under review.
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WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (executive Director, chief financial
officer, and member of Executive Committee)

- With effect from 1 May 2012, the base salary under the
service agreement has been adjusted from HK$3,000,000 (or
US$385,604) to HK$3,240,000 (or US$416,452) per annum.
At the same time, the provident fund has also been adjusted
from US$38,560 to US$41,645 per annum.

- The Remuneration Committee has approved a discretionary
bonus payment of US$100,000 for the year under review.

WONG Wai Ming (non-executive Director)

- With effect from 1 May 2012, the remuneration under the
letter of appointment has been adjusted from HK$259,200
(or US$33,316) to HK$285,120 (or US$36,648) per annum.

WANG Arthur Minshiang (independent non-executive
Director, chairman of Remuneration Committee, and member
of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee)

- With effect from 1 May 2012, the remuneration under the
letter of appointment has been adjusted from HK$259,200
(or US$33,316) to HK$342,144 (or US$43,977) per annum.

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (independent non-executive Director,
chairman of Audit Committee, and member of Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee)

- With effect from 1 May 2012, the remuneration under the
letter of appointment has been adjusted from HK$259,200
(or US$33,316) to HK$427,680 (or US$54,972) per annum.

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (independent non-executive
Director and member of Audit Committee)
- With effect from 1 May 2012, the remuneration under the

letter of appointment has been adjusted from HK$259,200
(or US$33,316) to HK$285,120 (or US$36,648) per annum.
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Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors at the Company's expenses
whenever necessary.

The Company provides reqular updates and presentations on changes
and developments relating to the Group's business and the legislative
and regulatory environments in which the Group conducts its business
to the Directors.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code Provision A.6.5 of
the New CG Code which came into effect on 1 April 2012 on Directors'
training. All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided a record of training they received during the year ended 30
April 2012 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received during the year
ended 30 April 2012 is summarised below:
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For the year ended 30 April 2012
BE_T-—FNA=THLFE

Name and Training provider
title of Directors Training received or source of training materials Time spent
(hour)
ESnAREH Frig 5 al RAE I E FF A A8 2 R Fit FA 5
(I BF)
WANG Lu Yen Speech on garment industry - supply-chain China National Garment Association 1
Chairman, management PERE RS
chief executive officer BRRETE - HEHEEZES
and executive Director Seminar on directors’ duties The Hong Kong Institute of Directors 2
B8 EHEERE e EEEEEY
i\I{#E; fTBBER Online training on listing rules amendments and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 1
woEE compliance ERBMAERHMER AR
AR LTMRANERT RA R 2 ERET
Online training on corporate governance code The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 1
and listing rules amendments ERMERHMBRAE
BRAGXERTRIR EMRRER] 2 ERE
WERBERAT —T-—FEH
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For the year ended 30 April 2012
BE_T-—FNA=TAHLEE

28

Name and Training provider

title of Directors Training received or source of training materials Time spent
(hour)

ESnAREHE A& 53l AT FI & FOE FI AR 2 R Fir P B 1
(/hBF)

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis Luncheon talks on business management Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) 2

Executive Director

and chief financial officer
BEF

WITESRIBEH

BERELER FEEE

Training on negotiation skills
BRApERT &
Luncheon talks on currency

BHEBITEBRE

Seminar on listing rules matters
FRALTRAEEZ RIS
Seminar on funding and treasury
BFRE kM Hng
Seminar on directors' duties
FREERE LM
Seminar on managing VAT

ERERREN e

Limited
BITRTT (B8) BRAA
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
ERESEEE
The International Chamber of Commerce -
Hong Kong, China
BREE - PEELR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEMARSMARDE

FinanceAsia

The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
ERESEEY

Ernst & Young

RXEETMEBA

WONG Wai Ming Online trainings on financial reporting standards The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Non-executive Director BB KHmEER 2w Accountants

=EH R VN
FHITES

WANG Arthur Minshiang
Independent non-executive

Self-study of new code and listing rules
amendments

Source: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Director el FRANERT 2 B8 BRRR : BEEMAERIMAERAR
FHH B Self-study of guidance and FAQs Source: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
BUFRTES eI RERME, A Limited
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Online training on corporate governance rules
and compliance
BRGRERRAN AR EHREI
Self-study of IAS accounting developments
EReERlgtBRzAE
Self-study of guide on connected
transaction rules

BREEX SRR ZESIZEE

BRTR : BBMAERSMERAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRBMERIMARRA

Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers

BRFR  BEROKES T EBAT

Source: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

BRFR - BEMERZMARAT



For the year ended 30 April 2012
BE_T-—FNA=THLFE

Name and Training provider
title of Directors Training received or source of training materials Time spent
(hour)
E=nAREH P 2 553 R AL I SR A A R 2 RO Fir PR B 1
(hBF)
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius Forums for independent non-executive directors KPMG 8.5
Independent non-executive and non-executive directors ESE ST EBAT
Director BB IFMTERIIFMTER ZWIE
AHEDT Seminar on listing rules amendments Davis Polk & Wardwell, Hong Kong Solicitors 1
BUFBITES BB LTRAET 25 & BB EANE M R A AP
Training on corporate governance and listing PricewaterhouseCoopers 2
rules update BERAEBEMELM
BRAGEERR ETARIEH 2 HI
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS Online training on corporate governance code The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 1
Independent non-executive and listing rules amendments ERMARIMER AR
Director BRAGRERTRIR EMRRERT 2 ERE
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS  gpline training on listing rules amendments and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 1
BUFTES ERBARSPHERAT

compliance

ARLIRANER] KA R R

Directors' attendance and time commitments

Regular Board meetings are held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals primarily for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies, policies and budgets of the Group.

During the year ended 30 April 2012, the Board met six times mainly for
considering and approving the audited final results for the year ended 30
April 2011, unaudited results for the three months ended 31 July 2011, a
continuing connected transaction, unaudited interim results for the six
months ended 31 October 2011, corporate governance matters, unaudited
results for the nine months ended 31 January 2012 and budget of the
Group for the year ending 30 April 2013. At these board meetings, the
Board also reviewed and discussed the Group's business updates and
strategies.
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The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Comm

ittee and annual general meeting during the year ended 30 April

2012 is set out below:

BEEBER %zi_i—iimﬂz-i-ﬁﬂziﬁﬁ’]%
52 BERZBE FHZEEKERZEES
s%m@&@t;mm&r%%mw-

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEE/EERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee general
Name of Directors EEpE Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting meeting
(Note 1)
Exe #nZE®g FHWzEEE REZES B3R
a3 23 23 a3 BERE
(BtsEn)
Executive Directors HTES
WANG Lu Yen (Note 2) F%E (M) 6/6 ik 11 0/0 11
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Note 3) ~ =E4 (FfiF3) 6/6 202 1)1 N/A & 0
Non-executive Director FHTES
WONG Wai Ming &R 66 N/A TEH N/A iE NJA RiE R o1
Independent non-executive BUFHTER
Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang (Note 4) ~ F 813 (Fftst4) 6/6 202 0N 0/o o1
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (Note 5) HET (MEs) 6/6 202 0N 0/o 11
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS ~ Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS 5/6 202 N/A i N/A i 0/1
Number of meetings held ENBITRY 6 2 1 0 1
Notes: B3

Nomination Committee of the Board was established on 1 April 2012.

Mr. WANG Lu Yen was appointed member and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Board with effect from 1 April 2012. He ceased to act as member
and chairman of the Investment Committee of the Board following the dissolution of
the Investment Committee of the Board on 16 September 2011.

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis ceased to act as member of the Investment Committee of
the Board following the dissolution of the Investment Committee of the Board on 16
September 2011.

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang was appointed member of the Nomination Committee of
the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.

Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius was appointed member of the Nomination Committee of
the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.

The Directors are not members of the committees at the relevant time but attended
the meetings by invitation.
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In place of physical meetings, the Board and Board committees also
circulate written resolutions for approval by the relevant members of
the Board and Board committees except for matters where a substantial
shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest which the Board has
determined to be material in compliance with Code Provision A.1.7.

The Board having considered the attendance records of the Directors and
the confirmation provided by each Director is satisfied that each Director
spends sufficient time performing his responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of meetings
Meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are made available
to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
and company secretary whenever necessary.

The chief executive officer, chief financial officer (who heads a team
of professional staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function) and company secretary of the Company attend all
regular Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft and final versions
of minutes of Board meetings are normally sent to Directors for their
comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable
time after each meeting is held.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, the chairman of the Company, is also the chief
executive officer of the Company. Such practice deviates from Code
Provision A.2.1 of the Former CG Code and the New CG Code which
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

In view of Mr. WANG Lu Yen's extensive experience in the industry and
in-depth knowledge of the Group's operation and business, the Board
believes that Mr. Wang is instrumental in formulating and implementing
the Group's strategies. The Board expects that the Group will benefit
from a unified chairman and chief executive officer position that
provides clarity of leadership and allows efficient decision-making in
strategic matters as well as the Group's day-to-day business. However,
as the corporate needs of the Group may change from time to time,
the Board will review regularly the board composition and division of
responsibilities to ensure balance of power and corporate governance
practices appropriate for the size and structure of the Group's business.

The responsibilities of the chairman and the chief executive officer are
clearly defined and set out in writing, details of which are stated below.

The chairman's principal role is to provide leadership for the Board on
corporate and strategic planning, ensure proper proceedings of the
Board and encourage all Directors to have active contributions to the
Board's affairs.

Supported by the other executive Director and management, the chief
executive officer's principal role is to manage and operate the Group's
day-to-day business, including the implementation of major strategies
and initiatives adopted by the Board.

Board committees

The Company currently have four committees, namely, the Executive
Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

During the year under review, (i) pursuant to the New CG Code, the
Board established the Nomination Committee and (ii) having considered
the Board size and the composition of Board committees as explained
below, the Board dissolved the Investment Committee.

Terms of reference of all Board committees are available on the Stock
Exchange's website and the Company's website at www.linmark.com.
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Current structure of the Board EECREHLRE

Board of Directors
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge ~ZEFZEGABAENERBITHERBE - WER
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professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's R BRBAREXENM -
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all the executive Directors as
follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation
functions of the Group to the Executive Committee save to the extent
that certain powers and authorities are reserved to the full Board or
the other Board committees. Since the dissolution of the Investment
Committee on 16 September 2011, the functions of the Investment
Committee have been incorporated into the terms of reference of the
Executive Committee. As a result, the Executive Committee is also
responsible for reviewing or recommending to the Board the investment
transactions of the Group and has the power to approve transactions
that would not constitute notifiable transactions or capital market
activities.

With effect from 1 April 2012, the Company further amended the terms
of reference of the Executive Committee to make them in line with the
proceedings of other committees of the Board.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors
as follows:

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (chairman of the committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditors.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company's
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and results announcements
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Directors. The
members meet regularly with the internal auditor, external auditors
and the Company's senior management for the review and supervision
of the Company's financial reporting and internal control procedures.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring integrity of the
financial statements of the Company and the Company's annual reports
and accounts and interim reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them.
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With effect from 1 April 2012, the Company amended the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee to make them correspond with the
New CG Code.

As required by Code Provision C.3.7 of the New CG Code, details of
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control and other matters have been
included in the employees' handbook since 1 April 2012.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to:

(@)  review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the chief financial officer
(who heads a team of professional staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function), internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board;

(b)  review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors
proposed by management; and

(c)  review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the terms and conditions of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions of the
Company which took place during the year under review.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 30 April 2012 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection and appointment of the external auditors during the
year under review.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, the majority of
which are independent non-executive Directors, as follows:

WANG Arthur Minshiang (chairman of the committee)
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
WANG Lu Yen

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the Company's policy
and structure for all the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing formal and transparent procedures for developing
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions. The Remuneration Committee shall consult
the chairman andfor the chief executive officer of the Company about
their recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were in
compliance with the Code Provisions except that Code Provisions B.1.3(a)
and B.1.3(b) of the Former CG Code have been combined and modified
such that the Remuneration Committee had the power to do such things
and to approve all matters in relation to compensation regarding all the
Directors and senior management of the Group in accordance with the
terms and conditions of their respective agreement/contract with the
Company, or as the case may be, the relevant subsidiary of the Company.
In addition, the Remuneration Committee was also delegated with the
authority to exercise all the powers of the Board in relation to the share
option scheme of the Company.

On 16 September 2011, the Board amended the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee so that there would be no more deviation
in such terms of reference from the Code Provisions of the Former
CG Code. Following this change, the Board as a whole is responsible
for determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas
the Remuneration Committee would continue to have the authority
to approve the remuneration of the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Group as well as share options related matters.
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With effect from 1 April 2012, the Company further amended the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee to make them correspond
with the New CG Code and adopted Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i) out of the
two models suggested by the New CG Code. As a result of the adoption
of Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i), the Board as a whole is responsible for
determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas the
Remuneration Committee has the authority to approve the remuneration
of the individual executive Directors and the senior management of the
Group as well as share options related matters.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting to review and approve the proposed adjustment to the
remuneration of executive Directors and the proposed performance
bonus to the executive Directors and to consider and recommend the
proposed changes to the remuneration packages of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors).

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 1 April 2012 with terms
of reference in line with Code Provision A.5.1 of the New CG Code which
came into effect on 1 April 2012. The Nomination Committee comprises
three members, the majority of which are independent non-executive
Directors, as follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(a)  review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy;

(b) identify individual suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorship;

(c) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
having regard to the requirements of the Listing Rules;

(d)  ensure that no independent non-executive Director or any of his/
her associates is involved in assessing his/her own independence;
and

(e) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee did not hold
any meeting.
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Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was formed on 21 April 2006 notwithstanding
there was no such requirement under the Listing Rules or its
recommended best practices. Having considered the reduced Board size
and the identical composition of the Executive Committee and Investment
Committee, the Board has dissolved the Investment Committee on 16
September 2011, and the functions of the Investment Committee has
merged with that of the Executive Committee.

Company secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda has been the company secretary since the
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in 2002.
She is an employee of a fellow subsidiary of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs.

As the company secretary, Ms. Cheung supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed. She is responsible for advising the Board
through the chairman and chief executive officer on governance matters
and facilitates induction and professional development of the Directors.

The appointment and dismissal of the company secretary are subject to
the Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws. Whilst the company
secretary reports to the chairman and the chief executive officer on
the Group's company secretarial and corporate governance matters, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary.

Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1
January 2012, the company secretary must take no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in each financial year staggered according
to the date of appointment. In view of her date of appointment, Ms.
Cheung being the company secretary of the Company is required to take
such professional training for the financial year commencing on 1 May
2013.

Business objectives and strategies

Through harnessing the expertise and creativity of all our people, the
Company's objectives are to preserve and grow its position as a key
player in global supply chain management, while constantly striving to
increase the returns of the Company's shareholders.

The Company is committed to providing its customers the right quality

products and cost effective services in apparel and hardgoods at the
right time.
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The Company looks for improving the Group's long term financial
performance and avoids taking undue risks to make short term gains
at the expense of long term objectives. The current business strategy is
disclosed in the section "Prospects” of the Management Discussion and
Analysis of this annual report.

Internal controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the year ended
30 April 2012, the Board conducted an annual review of the Group's
internal control system, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. The Board assessed the
effectiveness of internal control by considering reviews performed by
the Audit Committee and both internal and external auditors. The annual
review also considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff in respect of the Group's accounting and financial
reporting function.

During the year, as delegated by the Board and Audit Committee,
internal auditor performed internal control reviews on the Group's risk
areas based on annual assessment of risk profile. Key audit findings and
recommendations were reviewed by the Audit Committee. Management
will continue to follow up actions agreed upon in response to audit
recommendations.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 30 April 2012.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code (“Employees Written Guidelines") for
securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Company and its securities.

No incident of non-compliance with the Employees Written Guidelines
by the relevant employees was noted by the Company.
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Responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other publications of the Company and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2012.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors' Report" contained in this annual report.

Auditors' remuneration

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 30
April 2012 amounted to approximately US$277,000 and US$19,000
respectively. The non-audit services were mainly related to tax services.

Shareholders' rights
The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
members (or shareholders) of the Company (“shareholders”) are set out
in, amongst other things, the Bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act").

Convening special general meeting on requisition

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company or
at the registered office of the Company, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies
Act. Under bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the provision of
Section 74(3) of the Companies Act.

The written requisition requiring a special general meeting to be called
can be sent to the head office and principal place of business of the
Company as set out in the Corporate Information section of this annual
report for the attention of the company secretary.

Proposing resolution at general meeting

Shareholders may by written requisition request for including a
resolution relating to matters in a general meeting by following the
requirements and procedures as set out in Sections 79 and 80 of the
Companies Act.
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Subject to the provisions of the above-mentioned sections of the
Companies Act, on the written requisition of members representing not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights or 100 members, at the
expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves,
the Company shall give shareholders of the Company notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting and a relevant statement.

Procedures for nomination of Directors for election

Under bye-law 86(1) of the Bye-laws, shareholders are entitled to elect
any person to be a Director at the annual general meeting in accordance
with bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws or at any special general meeting by
following the requirement set out in bye-law 88 of the Bye-laws. Details
of the procedures for nomination of Directors for election are available
on the Company's website at www.linmark.com.

Notice of general meetings and “bundling” resolutions

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.3, the Company will arrange for the
notice to shareholders to be sent for annual general meetings at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days for all other general meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors. Where
bundling the resolutions cannot be avoided, the Company shall explain
the reasons and material implications in the notice of the meeting.

Voting by poll
The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at general meetings are contained in the Bye-laws.

In accordance with Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all resolutions put
to vote at general meetings of the Company are taken by way of poll
except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted
on by a show of hands.

Details of the poll voting procedures will be set out in the circular sent
to shareholders prior to each meeting. The chairman of a meeting shall
ensure that an explanation is provided of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and answer any questions from shareholders on voting
by poll.

After each general meeting, the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders' communication policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and
in particular, use annual general meetings or other general meetings
to communicate with them and encourage their participation. The
Company shall also make available all the disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board will regularly review this policy to ensure its effectiveness to
suit the needs of the Company and to comply with the relevant rules
and corporate governance code.

Conduct of general meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the shareholders and the Board. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings.

The chairman of the Board as well as chairman of the Board committees
or in their absence, other members of the respective committees and the
external auditors are available to answer questions at the annual general
meetings.

Shareholders' enquiries

Shareholders can send their enquiries about shareholdings, share
transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office. Other shareholders' enquiries can
be directed to the head office and principal place of business of the
Company as set out in the Corporate Information section of this annual
report for the attention of the chief financial officer or the company
secretary.

Details of the shareholder' rights and communication policy are also
available on the Company's website at www.linmark.com.

Investor relations

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular
dialogue with institutional investors to keep them abreast of the
Company's developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

Besides, as to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at www.linmark.com, where information and updates
on the Company's business developments and operations, list of directors
and their role and function, constitutional documents, terms of reference
of the Board and its committees, procedures for nomination of directors
for election, shareholders' rights and communication policy, corporate
governance practices, announcements, circulars and reports released to
the Stock Exchange and other information are posted. Information on
the Company's website will be updated from time to time.

There was no significant change in the Company's constitutional
documents during the year ended 30 April 2012.

Hong Kong, 13 July 2012
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 April 2012.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year under review by
business and geographical segments as well as information about major
customers is set out in Note 4 to the financial statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2012 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 61.

An interim dividend of 0.88 HK cent per ordinary share, totalling
approximately US$773,000, was declared and paid to shareholders
during the year under review.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 0.50 HK
cent per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30 April 2012,
totalling approximately US$439,000. Subject to shareholders' approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, the
final dividend will be paid in cash on or about 17 September 2012 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 4 September 2012.

Ultimate holding company

During the year under review, the Directors regard Roly International as
a controlling shareholder of the Company and Megastar Holdings Limited
("Megastar") as the ultimate holding company of the Company. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a Director.

As at 30 April 2012, Roly International, directly and indirectly, held
approximately 69.84% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year under review are set out in Note 13 to the financial
statements.
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Share capital
Details of the share capital of the Company during the year under review
are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year under review are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves

As at 30 April 2012, distributable reserves of the Company consisted of
the aggregate of contributed surplus and retained earnings, amounted to
US$15,541,000 (2011: US$16,236,000).

Under the Companies Act (as amended), the contributed surplus shall not
be distributed to the shareholders if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that:

(1) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i)  the realisable value of the Company's assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

Share options and share option schemes

A share option scheme ("2002 Share Option Scheme") was adopted
by the Company pursuant to a resolution of the then sole shareholder
passed on 22 April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Company terminated the 2002 Share
Option Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme") pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company on 29 August 2011. The 2011
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years up to
2021, during which the Board or a committee thereof may grant options
to eligible persons to subscribe for shares in the Company. No option
has been granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme. The outstanding
options granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme remain exercisable
according to the terms of the grants of the options.
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Share options and share option schemes (continued)
Details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1.

Eligible persons
The eligible persons under the 2011 Share Option Scheme include:

(i) any Director or proposed Director (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive
Director), employee or proposed employee (whether full
time or part time) of, or any individual for the time being
seconded to work for, any member of the Group or any
controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the
Company; or

(iii)  any business partner, agent, consultant or representative of,
or any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to, or any supplier of goods or
services to, or any customer of, any member of the Group or
any controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Maximum number of shares

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date
of approval of the 2011 Share Option Scheme (i.e. 68,306,927
shares).

Subject to the approval by the Company's shareholders, the
aggregate number of the Company's shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the Company's shares in issue from time to time. Options
granted to the independent non-executive Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
in excess of 0.1% of the Company's shares in issue and with an
aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million resulting in the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
already granted and to be granted to such person under the 2011
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
of such option must be approved in advance by the Company's
shareholders.
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Share options and share option schemes (continued)
3.  Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
to any eligible persons (including those cancelled, exercised and
outstanding options), in any 12-month period up to the date of
the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the Company's shares in
issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must
be separately approved by the Company's shareholders in general

meeting.

4. Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 30
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. No
consideration is required to be paid by the grantee of an option
to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option. Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the
date as the Board may determine and ending on such date as the
Board may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant (which is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the
grant of the option is accepted). The exercise price is determined
by the Board, and will not be less than the higher of the closing
price of the Company's shares on the date of offer of grant and
the average closing price of the shares for the five business days

immediately preceding the date of offer of grant.

5. Remaining life of the 2011 Share Option Scheme

Subject to the earlier termination of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules governing the 2011 Share
Option Scheme, the 2011 Share Option Scheme will expire on 29

August 2021.
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Share options and share option schemes (continued) BRERBRESTS @

Movements of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company RAMBFEARE —TT _FEREAIIRT
granted to the Directors and employees (Note ii) under the 2002 Share ~ == RES (M) AIREBARRQ ARG < BikE
Option Scheme during the year under review were as follows: BEIEAMAT

Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company

ARAREZBRERB AL ARGHAE

Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
as at as at price
1 May 2011 Granted Cancelled Lapsed 30 April 2012 per share Date of grant Exercise period
(HKS)
RZB--% RZB-Z§
iA-A MA=1H
BA{TE BRH B BAX WATE SROEE RHAH AR
(B
Directors £
WANG Lu Yen I8 500,000 - - - 500,000 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis EEE 3,282,500 - - - 3,282,500 0830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
500,000 - - - 500,000 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
3,782,500 - - - 3,782,500
INONG Wai Ming HEH 500,000 - - - 500,000 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
WANG Arthur Minshiang TaE 312,500 - - - 312,500 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HET 625,000 - - - 625,000 0830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
Jakob Jacobus Koert Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS TULLENERS 312,500 - - - 312,500 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
Continuous contract employees  HEAHES 9,759,000 - - - 9,759,000 0830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
(Note i) (B3i)
1,883,500 - - (375,000 1,508,500 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
11,642,500 - - (375,000) 11,267,500
Total B3 17,675,000 - - (375,000) 17,300,000
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Share options and share option schemes (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet immediately before the dates on which the outstanding options
were granted were as follows:

BRERERESTSE (o)

Wi

(i)

REZHRTEBBRER D BHA  BBIMEHZE
BT ERAR - ARFRRGZEHENT

Closing price per share immediately

Date of grant it ci=h before the date of grant
SERHAHIZERETE

HK$

BT

23 August 2007 —EZTLFNAZ=+=H 0.860
24 August 2009 “ZETNFNAZF+TEA 0.670

Employees include employees of the Group and of the subsidiaries of Roly
International (other than the Directors) working under employment contracts with
the Group or subsidiaries of Roly International which are regarded as "continuous
contracts” for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong
Kong).

The Company has used the Black-Scholes Model for estimating the fair value of
options granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. The Black-Scholes Model is
one of the commonly used models to estimate the fair value of an option which can
be exercised before the expiry of the option period. The assumptions used in the
calculation are:

(a) Risk-free interest rate - the yield of 4-year Exchange Fund Notes on the date
of grant
(b) Expected volatility of share price - annualised volatility for one year

immediately preceding the date of grant
(o) Expected life of share options - 3.5-4.5 years
(d) Expected dividend paid out rate - 40%

The amount charged to in the income statement for the year ended 30 April 2012 was
approximately US$11,000 (2011: US$58,000).

No option was granted during the year under review/during the corresponding period
last year.

The calculation of the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes Model is based on
various assumptions and is only an estimate. It is possible that the financial benefit
accruing to the option holders may be substantially different from the value of
options calculated.
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Directors
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors
WANG Lu Yen
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis

Non-executive Director
WONG Wai Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, in accordance with
bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-laws, will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, who has served the Company for more
than nine years as an independent non-executive Director, will retire
voluntarily at the forthcoming annual general meeting and offer himself
for re-election for the purpose of complying with Code Provision A.4.3
of the New CG Code.

Directors' service contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting have a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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ExeRsE

Directors' interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 30 April 2012, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations

EERARAREABEE RS - 8
ERORESD 2D

R-ZE-——FMOA=1H " ARAZEERITHK
RENA DR S EMARRAE (ERREBE
BT EE 5 R EGRD ([#5RBERM )
EXVED) 2Bty ~ MBI RESFTEEALTA
ARARIEES RS RO FE35215FEZERL
MR RRE X (WFE) REFETRIA
MERNRR LBz IARIT

(a) REQFAREMBEBEZE 2R P28
BwRAR

Company/Name of

Number and class

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

associated corporations Name of Directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2012
(Note 1)

R=-B—-F

mA=+H

TERERIE 2

AQTFHEEECEE EBEIEES &4 HEHERER ZREB DL
(BftE1)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 620,000 0.09%
PIN/N F 1A EmBEA ordinary shares
(L

Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 477,035,619 69.849%
¥iN/NE] T4 corporations ordinary shares
_ (Note 2) Rl
SR 3 )

(HtEE2)

Company WONG Hing Lin, Dennis  Beneficial owner 800,000 0.12%
¥iIN/NE] HEF BEalEA A ordinary shares
iR
(L)

Company WANG Arthur Beneficial owner 260,000 0.04%
PiN/NC] Minshiang EmfEAA ordinary shares
T B R
(L)

Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 100,000 0.01%
PIN/NC]| e EmfAA ordinary shares
E B
(0

Megastar WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share 100%
(Note 2) e BishE A BB
(Bi&F2) (L
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Directors'

interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (continued)

Interests and short positions in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (continued)

(a)

(b)

Notes:

(1)
(2)

The letter "L" represents the Director's interests in the shares.

As at 30 April 2012, (i) RGS Holdings Limited ("RGS"), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Roly International, owned 431,220,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 63.13% of the issued share capital of the
Company; and (i) Roly International owned 45,815,619 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 6.71% of the issued share capital of the
Company. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Roly
International as stated in Note (2) of Section (a) to the paragraph headed
"Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose
their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen was
deemed, by virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested
in all the shares of the Company in which Roly International and RGS were
interested.

Interests and short positions in the underlying shares

§$%$QE§EEMEHZ&E~H

BRHRES

2R (®)

(a) J?"ZIK’D\E&EHWEZH’Q@QJZE

Wi

(1)
(2)

RE (@)

L] s E SRR 2 s -

RZTE——FWA=Z1+TH (12REEZ2
& [ff & 2 TIRGS Holdings Limited ([RGS]) ¥ A&
431,220,000l R A BIRE D+ (EANA BB BITIRAR

#963.130% & K (i) 2 Bk B PR 7 545,815,619/ A A
AR - AEARAR B BITRALE71% R T

X[ EEERRRIRIEE S KBS DI EXVERA K
Bmz KAL) —BRE QMNP
ITHREASEERPEBRRZANEE  REESFR
HEGRPIEXVERZ G ERBEERRAES
2B RRCSATHIA 2 A RN A R 2 4k

(b) REDFARHEMBEEEZEBERD S

of the Company and its associated corporations ZEBERAR
Number of underlying
Company/Name of shares comprised in
associated corporations Name of Directors Capacity the options
(Notes 1 and 2)
BREMS 2
AAT/EBEEZ S8 EERE P2 BB E
(Mt3E1%2)
Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 500,000 (L)
ZAN/NG| F1%E EnlEEA
Company WONG Hing Lin, Dennis Beneficial owner 3,782,500 (L)
VNN mEF BB A
Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 500,000 (L)
ZA/NS] E il EmEEA
Company WANG Arthur Minshiang Beneficial owner 312,500 (L)
ZAN/NS) F EmlAA
Company TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)
ZA/NS] HZEDT EmBA
Company Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS Beneficial owner 312,500 (L)
A F] EnEAA
Notes: B sE
(1) The letter "L" represents the Director's interests in the shares. (1) [L] THBEE R R R 2 ek o
(2) Details of the above underlying shares are set out in the paragraph headed (2) ERARBRD ZFERR [EEBERNHRES

"Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures".

ZHER] B e

MELEMERAT —T—_FFR

51



52

Report of the Directors
e

Directors' interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (continued)

(c) Interests and short positions in the debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations
As at 30 April 2012, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had interests or short positions in the debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures
Movements of the options granted by the Company to the Directors
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the year under review
were set out in the paragraph headed "Share options and share option
schemes" above.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who

are required to disclose their interests pursuant to ZAHREEZZHMAL

Part XV of the SFO

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (a) XRABRZEERR

As at 30 April 2012, the following shareholders (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests
and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company are set out above) had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

FTERRRREEZRPERHFEXVE

W-ZZE——FWA=+H "  FHERE(ER
KRRz REERD 2 EZRARE
BN EXZARRARESR RITBBERIN B
ARz REERG PR ALAR
NEMRIEFE S KB KOIENBRFEZE

register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of sz EmSORE
the SFO:
Approximate
Number of percentage of

shares of the

interests as at

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held 30 April 2012
(Note 1)
R-Z——F
BEAEAQTH MA=+HZ
FTERRER B4 RGOEE EREBNBE
(M5E1)
RGS Beneficial owner 431,220,000 (L) 63.13%
EmlEA
Roly International Beneficial owner 45,815,619 (L) 6.71%
2 BB EmlEEA
Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 2) 431,220,000 (L) 63.13%
RiEHEE c am (FiE2)
RI Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
R EE Ew (Fe2)
RI Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
RiEHEE w (FiE2)
MELEMERAT —T—_FFR
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who
are required to disclose their interests pursuant to

Part XV of the SFO (continued)
(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (continued)

FERRRBEZHFRPEFRHIEXVER
BAREEZCHMAL )

(a)

ARBZEERR (8)

Approximate
percentage of
interests as at

Number of
shares of the

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held 30 April 2012
(Note 1)
R-B—ZF
BEXATE B=tH2
TERRERE &4 RGEE EaBiNEs L
(M5E1)
Megastar Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REGIER 2w (HEE2)
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REGIER 2w (HEE2)
One Principle Development Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REGIER 2w (HEE2)
CHIM Pui Chung Interest of controlled
EER corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
TGRS (FiEE2)
Notes: BiaE -
(1) The letter “L" represents the entity's interests in the shares. m [L] ThEE R R G 2 s o
(2) As at 30 April 2012, (i) RGS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International, (2) RZE—ZFMA=+H " (1ZEEBRZZ2EH

owned 431,220,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately
63.13% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (ii) Roly International
owned 45,815,619 shares of the Company, representing approximately 6.71%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Roly International is wholly
owned by Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited. Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited is held
by Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited as to 92.7% and by Megastar
as to 0.73%. Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited is held by each of Rl
Investment Holdings, Ltd. and Megastar as to 45.22% and 54.78% respectively.
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. is wholly owned by One Principle Development
Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. CHIM Pui Chung. Megastar is wholly
owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen. Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a Director, is also a director of
RGS, Roly International, Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited, Rl Investment Holdings
Bermuda Limited and Megastar.
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who

are required to disclose their interests pursuant to

Part XV of the SFO (continued)

(b) Other persons who are required to disclose their
interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Directors' interests
in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” and paragraph (a) above, as at 30
April 2012, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which are required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

Related party transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
during the year under review are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed below, these related party transactions
fall under the definition of a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction, but are exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders' approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected transactions

The following transactions between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company constitute continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules and are subject to the
announcement, reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions have been entered into and
are ongoing for which relevant announcements had been made by the
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

1. Continuing connected transaction relating to
Linmark (HK) Limited
On 15 April 2011, Linmark (HK) Limited entered into a tenancy
agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Sky Fame Group Limited
("Sky Fame") whereby Sky Fame agreed to lease to Linmark (HK)
Limited Flat 85 on 9/F. and Flat 85 on 10/F, Tower 15, Hong Kong
Parkview and Carpark Space Nos. 1026 and 1040 of Entrance 1
(Level 6), 88 Tai Tam Reservoir Road, Hong Kong (“Premises”) on
a fully-furnished basis for a term of 24 months commencing on 1
May 2011, provided that both Linmark (HK) Limited and Sky Fame
have an option to terminate the Tenancy Agreement by giving two
months' notice to the other party in writing. The monthly rent
(exclusive of rates and government rent) payable by Linmark (HK)
Limited to Sky Fame under the Tenancy Agreement is HK$200,000.
The Premises are used as the staff quarters of Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a
Director.
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m2HMAL
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BB E AN A TRAR R Z iy R AR RE B
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BRI ES3AE - R T XAAWBEEN - IF
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Connected transactions (continued)

1. Continuing connected transaction relating to
Linmark (HK) Limited (continued)
The entire issued share capital of Sky Fame is owned as to 50%
by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, an executive Director, the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company and a director of Sky Fame,
and as to 50% by his spouse. Accordingly, Sky Fame is an associate
of Mr. Wang and a connected person of the Company.

2. Continuing connected transaction relating to
Tamarind International Limited
On 28 November 2011, Tamarind International Limited ("Tamarind")
(for its own and on behalf of its subsidiaries from time to time
(together with Tamarind are collectively referred to as “Tamarind
Group")) entered into a master lease agreement (“Master Lease
Agreement”) with Wellbuild International Limited (“Wellbuild")
(for its own and on behalf of its subsidiaries from time to time
(together with Wellbuild are collectively referred to as "Wellbuild
Group")) whereby Wellbuild Group agreed to lease to Tamarind
Group certain portion of a commercial building in Shanghai,
PRC ("Properties") with gross floor area of approximately 1,967
square metres by way of sub-letting arrangement for a term of
3 years commencing on 1 April 2012. The monthly rent (inclusive
of management fee) payable by Tamarind to Wellbuild under the
Master Lease Agreement is HK$330,000. The Properties are used by
Tamarind Group as its Shanghai office.

Wellbuild is (i) a wholly-owned subsidiary of Roly International;
and (i) a controlled corporation and an associate of Mr. WANG
Lu Yen who is an executive Director, the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company and a director of Wellbuild.
Accordingly, Wellbuild and its subsidiaries are regarded as
connected persons of the Company.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
consider that these continuing connected transactions were conducted
in the usual and ordinary course of business of the Group on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the agreements. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the view
that the terms of these continuing connected transactions were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

All connected transactions were reviewed by the independent non-
executive Directors at the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 6
July 2012. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the
aforesaid connected transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (b) on normal commercial
terms; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Connected transactions (continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditors of the Company to perform certain factual finding
procedures on the above continuing connected transactions on a sample
basis in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Related Services 3000
"Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information" and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's
Letter on Continuing Connected Party Transaction under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Board confirmed that it had received a letter from the
auditors of the Company confirming the matters stated in Rule 14A.38
of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the transactions stated above.

Directors' interests in contracts

Save as disclosed above and in Note 33 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company, any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.

Major customers and vendors of the Group

During the year under review, the five largest customers of the Group
in aggregate accounted for approximately 67.3% of the turnover of the
Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 32.3% of
the turnover of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 18.6% of the Group's total shipment volume placed by the
Group and the largest vendor accounted for approximately 5.0% of the
Group's total shipment value placed by the Group.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in the
top five vendors or customers noted above.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's

listed securities
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's securities during the year under review.

BEXS (&)

LR EMBRAF14A381G EFFLBARFIZ
HEG LB ERER S EREB LA
GEM 2 BB R ER3000 [IEFZ L EHBAE
P EBNRELE]  T2REKHFFE74090
[BEREELEMBRAMMFEERET T IHNZE
BERfE] s AR ETE THRERAEREF -
EECWAREE B AR ZEEH ETHRAE
14A 38PN R ER BB K ©

RAPHER LN ZEET EHARRZE14A
BEHMWBERE

EECa0ER

B XX R SRR M 33T BEEE SN - ARF]
HAEMHER AR - B A A KB QRS
S B ET ST AR B B 6 8 S A5 S SR AN Bl R 4F
EREAEBDAERMESERLMEAELS
BEBEREGZERARBEBZERRL -

AEETFEEFRAEEZHER
RABBFEAN  AEBAREARFAHEAR
FEEEFEN730 HRASFK-—RKEFPELRE
[ & S FE4Y32.300 ©

AEEBZARGAREREREAEEEE 2
BEEHEXN1860 EPFHmAREFGAEEE
B2 iEEEEA5.00 °

ARAIBRES WESAZBMBEALREMBRER
(BEEMAHRAARADBETRAZR%0E)
BEN L ERAARERRES &R EE ERA

e

o o

>+

BE  HEFFEEARQAFAzLHES

RABBEFER - RNRF A ERNE QRS E
BE  HEXELAQREMNES

MELEMERAT —T—_FFR

57



Report of the Directors
e

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 148 and 149.

Corporate governance

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" on pages
19 to 42.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year under review.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst
& Young as auditors of the Company to hold office until conclusion of
the next annual general meeting at a fee to be agreed with the Directors.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13 July 2012
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

= ik

www.ey.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
To the shareholders of Linmark Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Linmark Group
Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") set
out on pages 61 to 147, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 30 April 2012, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors' responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

Ernst & Young
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZBMREE

Auditors' responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30
April 2012, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
13 July 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement
A UES

Year ended 30 April 2012
BE_Z——FA=1THILFE

2012 2011
—E—_F —T——F
Note US$'000 Us$'000
=2 FEx FET
REVENUE W= 5 100,621 95,763
Cost of sales THEM A (77,123) (72,791)
Gross profit EF 23,498 22,972
Other income H bW A 5 1,454 1,367
General and administrative expenses —RE RAITER X (22,014) (22,007)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR Z WS 29(a) 191 13
Loss on dissolution of a subsidiary RE — KM B AR 2 18 29(b) (97) -
Restructuring costs EHER - (1,556)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity — JE{H —ZK L FIIEH| T L~ BB (1) (2)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RREL AR R 6 3,031 787
Income tax expense Frigiif X 9 (247) (142)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR b /N |
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS HE AR
OF THE COMPANY FERA 10 2,784 645
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AAREBERERFEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EBEEREAR
OF THE COMPANY (expressed in US cent) (AZEILES)) 1
Basic EEWN 0.4 0.1
Diluted B 0.4 0.1

Details of the dividends to shareholders of the Company are set out in ARRAREFTREZEEFEIEET N SRR T
Note 12 to the financial statements. 12 o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

=ANPAN >
/2\\/ | E@L&ﬁﬁ
Year ended 30 April 2012

HE_Z-—_FMA=THILFE

2012 2011
—E——fF —E=——F
US$'000 Us$'000
TEx FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREREF 2,784 645
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ht2EBA
Exchange differences: MEH ZRE
Translation of foreign operations HRE R INETS 75 (144)
Reclassification adjustments included in the STAGERERZ
consolidated income statement EHOERARE
- loss on dissolution of a subsidiary - RE R B AR ZEE 97 -
- loss on disposal of subsidiaries - HEWB AR EE 1 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FEHMEZEEA
FOR THE YEAR /(1R) 173 (144)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR FEHMKAEEE 2,957 501

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BN R
As at 30 April 2012
RIE—ZFMA=1H

2012 201
—E—_F T
Note USs$'o00 Us$'000
B sE FEx FE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MERE 13 998 360
Goodwill RS 14 26,333 26,333
Available-for-sale financial asset AHEESHEE 15 84 84
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—FKHAREHEEZIRE 17 12 13
Deferred tax assets BRI TEE E 18 113 109
Total non-current assets EMBVEELRR 27,540 26,899
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 19 - 25
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 20 5,367 5,061
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JEATRUE ~ 124 M EMBEIWFIE 21 3,332 2,774
Bank deposit with initial term of Ve TF e =1E A
over three months ZIRITIFR 22 1,997 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBLEFMEHAE 22 17,816 17,538
Total current assets MENEELBER 28,512 25,398
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables ERE SRR 23 5,997 6,672
Accruals and other payables et B A N EAth FE A RIS 24 8,574 6,313
Tax payable FEfSFIIR 1,468 1,413
Total current liabilities BB 16,039 14,398
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 12,473 11,000
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEE 40,013 37,899
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY *RBAE
Post-employment benefits & BRIKEH 25 1,070 1,151
Total non-current liability FERBEEERE 1,070 1,151
NET ASSETS EEFE 38,943 36,748
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITIRA 26 13,661 13,661
Reserves e 28(a) 25,282 23,087
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE KAREEA
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY R 38,943 36,748

WANG Lu Yen E%[E
Director %

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis EEF
Director EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEaEHR

Year ended 30 April 2012

BE_T—_FOA=THILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LYNGIE 2N/
Share Capital  Exchange
Issued Share option Special redemption fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve’ reserve reserve  earnings equity
ARER BRI
BETRE  ROEE BRERE FhERE & #E RERN BRgH
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
iz TEx FTEr FER FER FER FER FER FER
At 1 May 2010 R-E-TFRA—H 13,500 21,632 295 184 48 (706) 6,172 41,125
Profit for the year EEEF - - - - - - 645 645
Other comprehensive income for the year:  FEEM2EMA ¢
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HREENEK 2
foreign operations EHESE - - - - - (144) - (144)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EER2EURAN
for the year (B1B) = - - - - - (144) 645 501
Issue of shares TR0 81 1068 - - - - - 1,149
Exercise of share options TlEEEmE 27 80 1 7 - - - - 84
Equity-settled share option arrangements ~ MARRES N 7 BRELRH 27 - - 58 - - - - 58
Share options lapsed during the year FERD LWz AL - - (123) - - - 123 -
Final 2010 dividend paid ENZ2-SERHKE - - - - - - (655) (655)
Special 2010 dividend paid BENZZE-ZFRIRE - - - - - - (5242) (5,242)
Interim 2011 dividend paid BRZZ——F4EBks 1 - - - - - - (272) (272)
At 30 April 2011 R-B——EmA=1A 13,661 22,711 203 184 48 (850) m 36,748
At 1 May 2011 W=E——&R7—H 13,661 22,711 203 184 48 (850) m 36,748
Profit for the year EE‘/ﬁﬂ - - - - - - 2,784 2,784
Other comprehensive income for the year:  FEEMZEMRA
Exchange differences on translation of ~ JAEGHNER Y
foreign operations EHEE - - - - - 75 - 75
Reclassification adjustments ENHERE
- loss on dissolution of a subsidiary -BE-RINBAR
288 - - - - ) 7 ) Y
- loss on disposal of subsidiaries -HENRBARZER - - - - _ 1 _ 1
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE2EMALEE - - - - - 173 2,784 2957
Equity-settled share option arrangements — ARHES (2 IR S 27 - - i - - - - n
Share options lapsed during the year FRERM ERE - - (8) - - - 8 -
Interim 2012 dividend paid ENZE-—EhlKs  1n2 - - - - - - (773) (773)
At 30 April 2012 R-E-—EMA=+A 13,661 22,7 226 184 48 (677) 2,790 38,943
Representing: B
Proposed 2012 final dividend BR-E-—FXEKE 12 - - - - - - 439 439
QOthers Hi 13,661 22,1 226 184 48 (677) 2,351 38,504
At 30 April 2012 RZE-—EMB=+A 13,661 22,1 226 184 48 (677) 2,790 38,943
# Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of share capital # BRIREEEEN ARG D BITIRAEEEARQG)E B

of the Company issued and the aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital

of subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an exchange of shares.

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=IAN PAN = —1

%/ =) fﬁdimbi%
Year ended 30 April 2012

E_T - FNA=TALEEE

2012 2011
—E-——f —T——fF
Note US$'000 US$'000
BtsE FTER TET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ RE(KHEHE
Profit before tax: BRI A& R - 3,031 787
Adjustments for: SEHE
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity R —REREHETE B 1 2
Interest income FEA 5 (55) (5)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME - FE &K
plant and equipment i 6 (14) (197)
Loss on dissolution of a subsidiary R —RMB AR 2 EE 6 97 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z kS 6 (191) (13)
Depreciation e 6 377 403
Equity-settled share option expense VARRIE 2 1+ 2 BB IR i B 6 11 58
3,257 1,041
Decrease in inventories FERD 25 44
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables JEUWE ZREZ (3EH0),/ wi (3086) 263
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FBRRE - ke REAMEY
deposits and other receivables FIE (35m), @ (561) 4,648
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FEME SR CRd),/#Em (675) 1,301
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and fEZT B A M E M ENFKIE
other payables g,/ i) 2,264 (4,097)
Decrease in post-employment benefits & BRIEFIR D (45) (176)
Cash generated from operations KEEBHBRE 3,959 3,024
Tax paid BEAHIE (186) (516)
Net cash flows from operating activities KBRS F5 3,773 2,508
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHMERERE
Interest received RIS 55 5
Purchases of items of property, BEVE BEX
plant and equipment B (1,022) (144)
Proceeds from disposal of items of TEDE  BEK
property, plant and equipment REFTERIE 21 365
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARZIRERAFE 29(a) 192 13
Increase in bank deposit with initial term of  ¥J#A1F ZHRE = 18 A
over three months ZRATEFIE N (1.997) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing WEEE (i), s
activities Re TR (2.751) 239
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meRenER
Year ended 30 April 2012
HE-_Z-——_FNOA=THILFE

2012 2011
—F-=F =%
US$'000 US$'000
SFESom FE1
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RETHIERERE
Proceeds from issue of shares ﬁﬂxfﬁﬁﬁgﬁy’( - 84
Dividends paid B (773) (6,169)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEBATFER €55 (773) (6,085)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBSSEEREM
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) B8 249 (3,338)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year i?ﬂzfﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\%ﬁlﬁﬁ 17,538 20,953
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net MEREH s FE  FE 29 (77)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR FRZEENESZEER 17,816 17,538
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND BeRBREEEHER
CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEEER AT
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITE 17,816 17,538

Linmark Group Limited Annual Report 2012



Statement of Financial Position
B IS AR 2R

As at 30 April 2012
R-ZE-—_FHA=1H

2012 2011
—E-——f —T——fF
Note US$'000 US$'000
B aE FEEm FEx
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIEE 16 52,133 52,838
Total non-current assets IERBE EAEE 52,133 52,838
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FBIRUE - e REMBEUNRZIE 21 10 2
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEEEER 22 90 95
Total current assets MENVEEBER 100 97
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Accruals and other payables ST B A I B At e~ KB 24 46 56
Total current liabilities mEBEER 46 56
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 54 4
Net assets BEFE 52,187 52,879
EQUITY R
Issued capital BT 26 13,661 13,661
Reserves i 28(b) 38,526 39,218
TOTAL EQUITY R 52,187 52,879
WANG Lu Yen [ WONG Hing Lin, Dennis EEF
Director EBF Director &%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TSR M 5T

30 April 2012
—E—_FNA=+H
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

2.1

Linmark

Linmark Group Limited ("Company") is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (together with the Company are
collectively referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in
the sales of merchandise and the provision of procurement and
value-added services.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January 2002 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The
Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange") since 10 May
2002. In the opinion of the Directors, the holding company of the
Company is Roly International Holdings Ltd., which is incorporated
in Bermuda, and the ultimate holding company is Megastar
Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs")
(which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB"),
and International Accounting Standards ("IASs") and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for an available-for-sale
financial asset, which has been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in United States dollars ("US$")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group and its subsidiaries for the year ended
30 April 2012. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All inter-group balances,
transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from inter-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation
in full.

Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs and

new International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

("IFRIC") interpretations for the first time for the current year's

financial statements.

IFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards
- Limited Exemption from
Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures
for First-time Adopters

IAS 24 Amendments Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to IFRIC-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum

[FRIC-Int 14 Amendments

Funding Requirement

IFRIC-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments

Amendments to a number of
IFRSs issued in May 2010

Improvements to IFRSs 2010

2.1

2.2
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Notes to the Financial Statements
RS T

30 April 2012

—E-CZHWA=TH

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
IAS 24 Amendments, and amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 1 and IAS 27
included in Improvements to IFRSs 2010, the adoption of the new

and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these

financial statements.

(a)

(b)

IAS 24 Amendments Related Party Disclosures

IAS 24 Amendments clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
The revised standard also introduces an exemption from
the general related party disclosure requirements for
transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to
reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties
under the revised standard. The adoption of the revised